FILEDFILEDCourt of AppealsSUPREME COURTDivision II12/5/2019State of Washington12/5/2019BY SUSAN L. CARLSONCLERKNO. 51556-3-IICLERKIN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON97931-6DIVISION IIDIVISION II

U.S. BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR LSF8 MASTER PARTICIPATION TRUST,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

JACK W. BAILEY, an individual, et al,

Defendants,

JASON HAGEN, an individual,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

HONORABLE GREGORY GONZALES

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BEN SHAFTON

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant Caron, Colven, Robison & Shafton 900 Washington Street, Suite 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 699-3001

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This Petition for Review is made on behalf of Jason Hagen, appellant before the Court of Appeals.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Hagen seeks review the decision of the Court of Appeals filed November 5, 2019, affirming a trial court decision dismissing his counterclaim made under RCW 7.28.300.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review:

1. Is an obligation accelerated when the deed of trust that secures the obligation states that acceleration is necessary to proceed to non-judicial foreclosure, a notice of default states that the obligation will be accelerated if delinquent payments are not made within thirty days, and a notice of trustee's sale is recorded on or about the thirtieth day from the issuance of the notice of default?

2. Is the period of limitation tolled by institution of nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings?

3. Was the period of limitation effectively extended by the time between the filing of a bankruptcy petition and the grant of a discharge when the secured party could easily have obtained relief from the automatic stay?

1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Operative Facts

Jack Bailey and Sharon Bailey owned a residence located at 16203 N.E. 36th Ave., Ridgefield, Washington (the Property). (CP 24; CP 46) In July of 2002, the Baileys borrowed \$269,997.77 from Household Realty Corporation (Household). The loan is evidenced by a Loan and Repayment Agreement. It called for monthly payments of \$2,754.46 over a period of thirty years. (CP 165-67) The Baileys executed a Deed of Trust pledging the Property as security for the loan. The Deed of Trust named Household as the beneficiary. (CP 215-220) The Deed of Trust contains the following language in paragraph 17 as is pertinent:

. . .(U)pon Borrowers' breach of any covenant or agreement of Borrower in this Deed of Trust, including the covenants to pay when due any sums secured by this Deed of Trust, Lender, prior to acceleration, shall give notice to Borrower...specifying (1) the Breach; (2) the action required to cure such breach; (3) a date not less than 30 days from the date the notice is mailed to Borrower, by which such breach must be cured; and (4) that failure to cure such breach on or before the date specified in the notice may result in acceleration of the sums secured by this Deed of Trust; and sale of the Property at public auction at a date not less than 120 days in the future. The notice shall further inform Borrower of the right to reinstate after acceleration and the right to bring a court action to assert the nonexistence of a default or any other defense of Borrower to acceleration and sale. If the breach is not cured on or before the date specified in the

notice, Lender, at lender's option may declare all of the sums secured by this Deed of Trust to be immediately due and payable without further demand and may invoke the power of sale and any other remedies permitted by applicable law...

(CP 218)

The Baileys fell behind in making their payments by the first part of 2009. Household appointed Regional Trustee Services Corporation (the Trustee) as successor trustee under the Deed of the Trust. (CP 55-56) The Trustee prepared a Notice of Default to the Baileys dated May 15, 2009. (CP 172-74) It alleged that the Baileys owed \$42,320.11 in overdue payments and other charges. It went on to state in paragraph 5(c):

If the default(s) described above is (are) not cured within thirty days of the mailing of this notice, the lender hereby gives notice that the entire principal balance owing on the notes secured by the Deed of Trust. . . and all accrued and unpaid interest, as well as costs of foreclosure, shall immediately become due and payable. Notwithstanding acceleration, the grantor or the holder of any junior lien or encumbrance shall have the right after acceleration to reinstate by curing all defaults and paying all costs, fees and advances, if any, made pursuant to the terms of the obligation and/or deed of trust on or before 11 days prior to a Trustee's sale.

(CP 173) This notice was mailed to the Baileys on May 18, 2009. (CP

59)

The Baileys made no further payments. (CP 265; CP 409) The Trustee then recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale on June 19, 2009. (CP 58-61) It set a trustee's sale for September 18, 2009. The notice stated that the principal of the amount due was \$270,336.87, an amount greater than that initially borrowed. (CP 59)

On September 17, 2009, the Baileys filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy protection. (CP 63-118) In their petition, they stated that the Property had a value of \$274,000.00 but that it was security for debt totaling \$338,411.00. (CP 72) They agreed to surrender the Property. (CP 107-108) The Baileys subsequently moved out of the Property by no later than October 31, 2009. (CP 409)

Meanwhile, the trustee's sale scheduled for September 18, 2009, did not go forward because of the automatic stay. Household did not seek relief from the stay to proceed with foreclosure. (CP 132-38) The Baileys were granted a discharge in their bankruptcy on December 16, 2009. (CP 120)

In September of 2011, the Baileys executed a quit claim deed conveying their interest in the Property to Jason Hagen. (CP 169) In August of 2014, Household assigned the Deed of Trust to Plaintiff U.S. Bank, N.A. as Trustee for LSF8 Master Participation Trust. (CP 406-407)

II. Procedural Facts.

Plaintiff filed this action on September 22, 2015. (CP 1-22) It sought to judicially foreclose the Deed of Trust that the Baileys had

executed in 2002. This was the first judicial or non-judicial foreclosure action that had been taken since 2009 when the Baileys had filed for bankruptcy protection.

After the filing of an amended complaint, Mr. Hagen answered and counterclaimed to quiet his title in the Property based on RCW 7.28.300. He alleged that the obligation secured by the Deed of Trust had been accelerated in June of 2009 and that Plaintiff's action was barred by the applicable statute of limitations because it was filed after June of 2015. (CP 23-48)

On August 21, 2017, Plaintiff moved for judgment on the pleadings to dismiss Mr. Hagen's counterclaim. The motion assumed that acceleration had occurred in June of 2009 but argued that the action had been filed before the limitation period had run. It claimed that the limitation period had been extended by the abandoned 2009 non-judicial foreclosure and the by Baileys' bankruptcy filing. (CP 122-28) Mr. Hagen responded to the motion. (CP 139-53) On October 18, 2017, he filed a summary judgment motion. He contended that the obligation had in fact been accelerated in June of 2009 and that the limitation period had not been effectively extended by either the abandoned 2009 non-judicial foreclosure or the Baileys' bankruptcy. (CP 186-212)

The two motions were heard together. On February 15, 2018, the trial court entered the Order on Motions. That order granted Plaintiff's motion for judgment on the pleadings; denied Mr. Hagen's motion for summary judgment; and dismissed Mr. Hagen's counterclaim with prejudice.¹ (CP 431-33) Mr. Hagen then appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. Mr. Hagen's Position.

Mr. Hagen's counterclaim was based on RCW 7.28.300 which provides as follows:

The record owner of real estate may maintain an action to quiet title against the lien of a mortgage or deed of trust on the real estate where an action to foreclose such mortgage or deed of trust would be barred by the statute of limitations, and, upon proof sufficient to satisfy the court, may have judgment quieting title against such a lien.

Mr. Hagen has asserted that the obligation to Household was accelerated at the latest on June 19, 2009, when the Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded. This action was filed on September 22, 2015—outside the six year limitation period set out in RCW 4.16.040. Plaintiff has asserted that the limitation period was tolled while nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings

¹ The order also contained appropriate findings and language to comply with CR 54(b) and RAP 2.2(d). (CP 433)

were pending and during the time between the Baileys' bankruptcy filing and their receipt of a discharge. Neither claim has merit. Since the action was filed more than six years from the acceleration, Mr. Hagen is entitled to a decree quieting title in the property free of Plaintiff's claim.

II. <u>Acceleration</u>.

Since the Baileys agreed to pay Household in installments ending in 2032, the period of limitation can begin only if the obligation was accelerated. Acceleration requires some act on the part of the creditor to accelerate. The act may be the giving of formal notice to the effect that the whole debt is declared to be due, or by the commencement of an action to recover the debt, or by any means by which it is clearly brought home to the payors of the note that the option is exercised. *Weinberg v. Naher*, 51 Wash. 591, 594, 99 P. 736 (1909); *4518 S. 256th LLC v. Karen L. Gibbons, P.S.*, 195 Wn.App. 423, 434-36, 382 P.3d 1 (2016) The deed of trust requires acceleration preceded by notice before the beneficiary of the deed of trust can institute of non-judicial foreclosure proceedings. The Notice of Default provided the notice that the Deed of Trust requires. The recording of the Notice of Trustee's Sale was the act showing that acceleration has indeed occurred.

The Court of Appeals rejected that contention. Its decision is at odds, however, with the well settled rule that all instruments are to be

interpreted according to the intent of the parties, and clear and unambiguous language will be given its manifest meaning. See, e.g. Burton v. Douglas County, 65 Wn2d 619-621-22, 399 P.2d 68 (1965); Greenback Beach & Boat Club, Inc. v. Bunney, 168 Wn.App. 517, 522, 280 P.3d 1133 (2012) If the language of the deed of trust is thought to be ambiguous, the actions taken on behalf of Household confirm that acceleration is necessary. Acceleration is not necessary to a trustee's sale, and a Notice of Default need not contain any language concerning acceleration. RCW 61.24.030. The acceleration language was included in the Notice of Default because someone believed that it was required by the deed of trust for there to be non-judicial foreclosure. And acts of the parties show their interpretation of the language of any instrument. Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 661, 801 P.2d 220 (1990) Based on this conflict with decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court, the Court should take review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)

One other matter must be discussed at this point. In *Terhune v. North Cascade Trustee Services, Inc.,* 9 Wn.App.2d 708, 446 P.3d 683 (2019), Division Two of the Court of Appeals ruled that an obligation was not accelerated even though the deed of trust at issue contained language requiring acceleration prior to the non-judicial foreclosure in language virtually identical to that in this case. The Terhunes have sought review of the decision of the Court of Appeals.

In our case, the Court relied heavily on its opinion in *Terhune v*. *North Cascade Trustee Services, supra,* to affirm the trial court's ruling. It is submitted that the Court should take review of this matter if it also takes review of *Terhune v. North Cascade Trustee Services, supra,* because the same issues are presented.

 III.
 Tolling of the Limitation Period While Non-Judicial

 Foreclosure Is Pending.

Since the Court of Appeals found that the obligation had not been accelerated, it did not reach the issues of whether the time during which non-judicial foreclosure proceedings are excluded from the limitation period. The Court should take review of this question because decision allowing such exclusion conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. Furthermore, there are conflicting decisions of the Court of Appeals on this issue. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)

The notion that time during which a non-judicial foreclosure proceeding is pending should be excluded from any limitation period is not supported in the relevant statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.040. As it states:

The following actions shall be commenced within six years:

(1) An action upon a contract in writing. . .

Limitation periods can be tolled by the filing of a summons and complaint.

As RCW 4.16.170 provides:

For the purpose of tolling any statute of limitations an action shall be deemed commenced when the complaint is filed or summons is served whichever occurs first. If service has not been had on the defendant prior to the filing of the complaint, the plaintiff shall cause one or more of the defendants to be served personally, or commence service by publication within ninety days from the date of filing the complaint. If the action is commenced by service on one or more of the defendants or by publication, the plaintiff shall file the summons and complaint within ninety days from the date of service. If following service, the complaint is not so filed, or following filing, service is not so made, the action shall be deemed to not have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations.

Statutes of limitations are governed by their plain meaning. *Tingey v. Haisch*, 159 Wn.2d 652, 152 P.3d 1020 (2007) Furthermore, a Court cannot read language into a statute that the legislature may have omitted. In other words, a Court cannot adopt an interpretation of a statute that adds language that simply isn't there. *Jenkins v. Bellingham Municipal Court*, 95 Wn.2d 574, 579, 627 P.2d 1316 (1981); *Restaurant Development, Inc.*, *v. Cannawill, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 674, 80 P.3d 598 (2003) Courts will not read into statutes of limitation an exception that the statute does not contain though the exception might be reasonable and equitable. *Rushlight v. McLain*, 28 Wn.2d 189, 199, 182 P.2d 62 (1947); *O'Neill v.* *Estate of Murtha*, 89 Wn.App. 67, 73-74, 947 P.2d 1252 (1997) This rule must be applied vigorously where non-judicial foreclosure is at issue because non-judicial foreclosure statutes must be strictly construed in favor of borrowers. *Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services of Washington, Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012) Since there is nothing in either RCW 4.16.040(1) or RCW 4.16.170 that allows tolling of the limitation period while a non-judicial foreclosure is pending, there can be no such tolling.

There is conflict among the Divisions of the Court of Appeals on this issue. Division One has held in many cases that such tolling exists. See, e.g.. *Edmundson v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 194 Wn.App. 920, 378 P.3d 272 (2016) The lead opinion in *U.S. Bank National Association v. Ukpoma,* 8 Wn.App.2d, 254, 438 P.3d 141 (2019), decided by Division Three, concluded that no such tolling was available. The cases from Division One rely on language in *Bingham v. Lechner,* 111 Wn.App. 118, 45 P.3d 562 (2002) But as Division Three pointed out in *U.S. Bank National Association v. Ukpoma, supra,* 8 Wn.App.2d at 260, the Court in *Bingham v. Lechner, supra,* did not analyze the question.

In light of the conflict between the divisions of the Court of Appeals and in light of the fact that allowing tolling during periods where non-judicial foreclosure proceedings are pending conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals, the Court should take review to resolve this issue. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) It should hold that the limitation period is not tolled while a non-judicial foreclosure is pending because the statute of limitations does not allow for such a result.

IV. Tolling While Bankruptcy Proceedings Are Pending.

Plaintiff has claimed that the roughly ninety day period between the Baileys' filing for bankruptcy protection and their receiving their discharge should not be counted as part of the limitation period. Its argument is based on RCW 4.16.230 which provides as follows:

When the commencement of an action is stayed by injunction or a statutory prohibition, the time of the continuance of the injunction or prohibition shall not be a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action.

Household could have lifted the stay because the property had no equity

and because the Baileys had surrendered it. It is not entitled to rely on

RCW 4.16.230 for that reason.

This result follows from the interpretation that has been given to a

similar statute RCW 4.16.180. It provides as follows in pertinent part:

If the cause of action shall accrue against any person who is a nonresident of this state, or who is a resident of this state and shall be out of the state . . .such action may be commenced within the terms herein respectively limited after the coming, or return of such person into the state. . . and if after such cause of action shall have accrued, such person shall depart from and reside out of this state...the time of his or her absence...shall not be deemed or taken as any part of the time limit for the commencement of such action.

In essence, the statute provides that the period of limitation does not include the time that the defendant resides outside the State. In Summerrise v. Stephens, 75 Wn.2d 808, 454 P.2d 224 (1969), the Court held that the tolling provisions of the statute would not apply when the defendant could be served with process out-of-state under RCW 4.28.185. Washington's long arm statute. It noted that the purpose of RCW 4.16.180 was to preserve a limitation period when service on the defendant was not possible. It then stated that there was no good reason to allow tolling if the non-resident defendant could nonetheless be served. 75 Wn.2d at 813-14 The Court came to a similar conclusion in Smith v. Forty Million, 64 Wn.2d 912, 395 P.2d 201 (1964), when it held that RCW 4.16.180 would not toll the statute of limitations against non-resident motorists who cause collisions because they can be served under the provisions of RCW 46.64.060.

As RCW 4.16.170 makes clear, filing and service are necessary to toll any limitation period. RCW 4.16.180 was enacted to deal with issues of service of process while RCW 4.16.230 addresses the inability to file suit. If tolling is unavailable when the plaintiff can serve a non-resident

13

plaintiff, then tolling should also be unavailable when the plaintiff can take steps to lift an injunction like the automatic stay. Also, if a plaintiff is required to exercise diligence by serving a non-resident, a plaintiff should also be required to exercise diligence by seeking to lift the automatic stay. Finally, if the existence of a statutory mechanism such as RCW 4.28.185 eliminates the tolling in RCW 4.16.180, then the statutory mechanism to lift the automatic stay should also eliminate the tolling provisions of RCW 4.16.230. There is no principled reason to differentiate between the two.

There is no doubt that Household could have successfully lifted the automatic stay. The Court is required to lift the automatic stay if there is no equity in the property and the property is not necessary to any reorganization. As 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(2) says:

On request of a party in interest and after notice and a hearing, the court shall grant relief from the stay provided under subsection (a) of this section, such as by terminating, annulling, modifying, or conditioning such stay--

(2) with respect to a stay of an act against property under subsection (a) of this section, if--

(A) the debtor does not have an equity in such property; and

(B) such property is not necessary to an effective organization.

(Emphasis added)

Neither Household nor the Trustee moved to lift the automatic stay. The Bankruptcy Court would have been required to grant such a

request. As their petition makes clear, the Baileys had no equity in the Property. The term "equity" means the difference between the value of property and the sum of all encumbrances upon it. *Stewart v. Gurley*, 745 F.2d 1194, 1195-96 (9th Cir. 1984) The Baileys stated in their bankruptcy filing that the Property was worth \$274,000 but that it was encumbered by obligations totaling \$338,411.00. The Baileys did not seek any reorganization in their bankruptcy. They also agreed to surrender the Property. A party that surrenders property must vacate within thirty days of filing for bankruptcy protection. As 11 U.S.C. § 521(a)(2) states:

(2) if an individual debtor's schedule of assets and liabilities includes debts which are secured by property of the estate—

(A) within thirty days after the date of the filing of a petition under chapter 7 of this title . . . or on or before the date of the meeting of creditors, whichever is earlier, or within such additional time as the court, for cause, within such period fixes, file with the clerk a statement of his intention with respect to the retention or surrender of such property and, if applicable, specifying that such property is claimed as exempt, that the debtor intends to redeem such property, or that the debtor intends to reaffirm debts secured by such property; and

(B) within 30 days after the first date set for the meeting of creditors under section 341(a), or within such additional time as the court, for cause, within such 30-day period fixes, perform his intention with respect to such property, as specified by subparagraph (A) of this paragraph...

The Baileys acted on their intention to surrender by vacating

the Property by no later than October 31, 2009.

If Household had requested that the stay be lifted, it would have been entitled this relief within thirty days of making its request. As

11 U.S.C. § 362(e)(1) states in part:

Thirty days after a request under subsection (d) of this section for relief from the stay of any act against property of the estate under subsection (a) of this section, such stay is terminated with respect to the party in interest making such request, unless the court, after notice and a hearing, orders such stay continued in effect pending the conclusion of, or as a result of, a final hearing and determination under subsection (d) of this section.

In Merceri v. Deutsche Bank AG, 2 Wn.App.2d 143, 408 P.3d 1140

(2018), the Court of Appeals held that the ability to obtain relief from the stay did detract from the tolling effect of RCW 4.16.230. However, the opinion does not contain the arguments made here based on *Summerise v. Stephens, supra, and Smith v. Forty Million, supra.*

In short Household had the power to lift the stay within thirty days of making a request to do so. On that basis it cannot rely on RCW 4.16.230. A contrary ruling is at odds with the reasoning in *Summerise v. Stephens, supra*, and *Smith v. Forty Million, supra,* and therefore conflicts with Supreme Court decision. The Supreme Court should take review for that reason. RAP 13.4(b)(1)

CONCLUSION

For the reasons given above, the Supreme Court should take review and reverse the decisions of the Court of Appeals and the trial court. This matter should be remanded with directions to grant Mr. Hagen's motion for summary judgment on his counterclaim quieting his title in the Property free of Plaintiff's claim.