FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2020 11:23 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97931-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

U.S. BANK TRUST, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR LSF8 MASTER PARTICIPATION TRUST,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

JASON HAGEN, et al.

Defendant/Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas N. Abbott, WSBA No. 53024 TAbbott@perkinscoie.com PERKINS COIE LLP 505 Howard Street, Suite 1000 San Francisco, CA 94105-3204 Telephone: 415.344.7000

Facsimile: 415.344.7050

Attorneys for Respondent U.S. BANK TRUST, N.A. as Trustee for LSF8 Master Participation Trust

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Relevant here, the Rules of Appellate Procedure state that a petition for review will be accepted by the Court "only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals ..." RAP 13.4(b).

Hagen's petition cites only to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). See Pet. However, Hagen simply argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's orders on U.S. Bank's motion for judgment on the pleadings and Hagen's motion for summary judgment. The Supreme Court of Washington is not simply an "error-checking" court; rather, it reviews limited categories of cases in the exercise of its discretion within the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Even if Hagen's asserted bases for seeking discretionary review were one of the bases on which the Court grants review, there is still no reason to grant review of Hagen's case because Hagen's arguments are incorrect. The unanimous Court of Appeals correctly determined there was no acceleration of the debt. The Court of Appeals merely made the routine decision of applying well-established case law to the facts of the case and concluded that there was no acceleration as a matter of law.

In sum, there is no reason to review this case because the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

A. The Court of Appeal's Decision That No Acceleration Occurred Does Not Conflict With Any Decision of the Supreme Court or a Published Decision of the Court of Appeals

Citing RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), Hagen argues that the Court of Appeals ruling on acceleration is in conflict with decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court. Pet. at 7-8. Hagen argues that the Deed of Trust securing the Baileys' loan required acceleration before nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings. *Id.* at 7. Hagen further argues that the language of the Deed of Trust is unambiguous and the actions of the parties shows the intent to accelerate. *Id.* at 8. Hagen further argues that the Notice of Default and Notice of Trustee's Sale show acceleration. *Id.* at 7.

Well established Washington law disagrees with Hagen on each point. Acceleration is not self-executing. *See Kenworth Sales Co. v. Salantino*, 154 Wash. 236, 238 (1929) (language purporting to accelerate after default "gives no more than the option" of such outcome). "The law

is settled in this jurisdiction that even if the provision in an installment note provides for the automatic acceleration of the due date upon default, mere default alone will not accelerate the note." *A. A. C. Corp. v. Reed*, 73 Wash. 2d 612, 615 (1968); *Weinberg v. Naher*, 51 Wash. 591, 594 (1909); *Merceri v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 4 Wash. App. 2d 755, 760 (2018), *review denied*, 192 Wash. 2d 1008 (2018) (same).

Well established authority also makes clear that for a lender to avail itself of the remedy of acceleration, the lender must notify the maker that it has accelerated the debt. "[A]cceleration must be made in a clear and unequivocal manner which effectively apprises the maker that the holder <u>has exercised</u> his right to accelerate the payment date." Glassmaker v. Ricard, 23 Wash. App. 35, 38 (1979) (quoting Weinberg v. Naher, 51 Wash. 591, 594 (1909)).

The facts also show Hagen is wrong. The Notice of Default itemizes the delinquent payments, late charges, and beneficiary advances (i.e., insurance and taxes) that were past due for a total amount due of \$40,906.86. (CP 172.) The loan amount was \$291,102.72. (CP 268, 272.) Had there been an acceleration the Notice of Default would have specified a higher amount due. However, the Notice of Default sought only the past due amounts and not the entire loan balance. The Notice of Trustee's Sale contains a similar itemization limited only to past due amounts totaling

\$46,208.58. (CP 59.) Hagen asserts that the reference to the total sum owing on the obligation indicates an acceleration. Pet. at 7. This is incorrect because the form of a notice of trustee's sale is dictated by RCW 61.24.040 and requires the notice to include a summary of the entire debt in Section IV. RCW 61.24.040(1)(a), (2)(d) (setting forth the form and language required for notices of trustee's sale). The Notice of Trustee's Sale issued here conforms with the form requirements set forth under RCW 61.24.040. (CP 58-61.)

As the forgoing demonstrates, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with the laws of this Court or with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Rather, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the facts to the law in reaching its conclusion that no acceleration occurred.

B. Whether a Nonjudicial Foreclosure Tolls the Limitations Period is not Grounds for Review

Again citing RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), Hagen next argues that there is a split of authority among the Divisions of the Court of Appeals that justifies review on the issue of whether a nonjudicial foreclosure tolls the limitations period. Pet. at 9-10. This argument fails for several reasons.

First, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case did not reach the issue of tolling by a nonjudicial foreclosure. *U.S. Bank Tr.*, *N.A. as trustee* for LSF8 Master Participation Tr. v. Bailey, No. 51556-3-II, 2019 WL

5704788, at *4 n.5 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 5, 2019). As such, the decision is not in conflict with any Supreme Court decision or published opinion of the Court of Appeals.

Second, there is no split of authority as Hagen suggests. Hagen concedes that Division One recognizes tolling effect of a nonjudicial foreclosure. Pet. at 11 (citing *Edmundson v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 194 Wash. App. 920 (2016)). Hagen cites no authority either way from Division Two. For Division Three, Hagen asserts that the Court of Appeals "concluded that no such tolling was available" in the decision in *U.S. Bank National Association v. Ukpoma*. Pet. at 11.

Hagen's reading of *Ukpoma* is incorrect. In *Ukpoma*, the Court of Appeals found there was no acceleration:

We therefore hold that QLS's February 2008 notice did not accelerate the installment note. And because the note never accelerated, the six-year statute of limitations has not run on all of the installment payments. We conclude that the trial court did not err in granting U.S. Bank's motion for summary judgment.

U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n as Tr. of Holders of Adjustable Rate Mortgage Tr. 2007-2 v. Ukpoma, 8 Wash. App. 2d 254, 259 (2019). The Court of Appeals further held:

Because the installment note was never accelerated, we need not address whether

commencement of the various nonjudicial foreclosures tolled the statute of limitations.

Id. at 260 (emphasis added). However, a concurring opinion addressed tolling and the author of the primary decision therefore offered his opinion on the issue. Id. As such, the Court of Appeals' discussion in *Ukpoma* regarding whether a nonjudicial foreclosure tolls the limitations period is, at most, dicta and is not binding authority. "A statement is dicta when it is not necessary to the court's decision in a case" and as such is not binding authority. Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles, 175 Wash. App. 201, 215, review denied 178 Wash. 2d 1022 (2013). As dicta, Ukpoma is not instructive on whether there is a split of authority. The controlling authority in Division Three is Bingham v. Lechner, which holds that the initiation of a nonjudicial foreclosure tolls the statute of limitations. Bingham v. Lechner, 111 Wash. App. 118, 127 (2002). Thus, there is no split of authority as Hagen suggests.

C. Whether the Bankruptcy Tolls the Limitations Period is Not Grounds for Review

Finally, Hagen argues that the Court of Appeals' decision as it relates to tolling from the bankruptcy is in conflict with two decisions of this Court, citing RAP 13.4(b)(1). Pet. 12-17. This argument does not provide a basis for review either because the Court of Appeals' decision in this case did not reach the issue of whether the statute of limitations was

tolled by bankruptcy. *U.S. Bank Tr.*, *N.A. as trustee for LSF8 Master Participation Tr. v. Bailey*, No. 51556-3-II, 2019 WL 5704788, at *4 n.5 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 5, 2019). As such, the decision is not in conflict with any Supreme Court decision.

Nonetheless, Hagen speculates that *if* the Court of Appeals had addressed the issue of the bankruptcy's effect on tolling it would have reached a decision that contrary to the reasoning in *Summerrise v*. *Stephens* and *Smith v. Forty Million*. Pet. at 15-16. This hypothetical argument provides no grounds for review, and if it did, every Court of Appeal decision would be subject to review by this Court, which, of course, is not the case.

Neither case is applicable to the question of whether a bankruptcy stay tolls the limitations period.

In *Summerrise*, the issue on appeal was:

Is an action for damages for a tort committed in this state by a then resident of this state, who subsequently became a resident of another state, tolled by his absence from the state as provided in RCW 4.16.180 during a period when the plaintiff was aware of the claimed tort-feasor's place of residence and had available to him the right to proceed under RCW 4.28.185, the long-arm statute?

Summerrise v. Stephens, 75 Wash. 2d 808, 809 (1969). Even if the Court of Appeals here had reached the issue, which it did not, its analysis would turn on RCW 4.16.230, which *Summerrise* does not discuss. Further, there are no issues raised in Hagen's appeal regarding application of a long-arm statute or tolling for service on out-of-state litigants.

In *Smith*, the issue on appeal was:

In an action for damages arising out of an automobile collision on a highway in this state is the statute of limitations tolled by the absence from the state of a nonresident defendant, as provided in RCW 4.16.180, when the plaintiff has available to him at all times the right to proceed under RCW 46.64.040, which makes the Secretary of State the agent of such nonresident for the purpose of service of summons?

Smith v. Forty Million, Inc., 64 Wash. 2d 912, 913 (1964). Like Summerrise, Smith does not discuss RCW 4.16.230 and the issues on appeal in Smith are not relevant to whether a bankruptcy tolls the limitations period for a foreclosure proceeding. At its core, Hagen offers a strained analogy between Summerrise and Smith on the one hand and this case on the other. However, the fact that a plaintiff does not expeditiously serve process to advance his or her prosecution of an action (as is the case in Summerrise and Smith) does not lend any support for Hagen's argument that a lender should be required to seek relief from the automatic stay in

order to avail itself of the tolling under RCW 4.16.230. Hagen's strained

analogy does not establish a conflict between this case and the decisions in

Summerrise and Smith.

Put simply, the Court of Appeals' decision here does not conflict

with either Summerrise or Smith. Further, the decision does not reach the

issue that Hagen asks this Court to consider. Accordingly, there are no

grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

V. **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, U.S. Bank requests the Court deny

Hagen's petition for review.